FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/20/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/20/2023 1:25 PM No. 102406-1
Court of Appeals No. 56817-9-II

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

**EDDIE HERSHELL WEST** 

Petitioner.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER B. TILLER
Attorney for Petitioner
THE TILLER LAW FIRM
118 North Rock Street
P. O. Box 58
Centralia, WA 98531
(360) 736-9301

TAE	<u>PAGE</u>
A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER1
B.	DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Eddie West, appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review that is designated in part B of this petition.

#### B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

West seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in cause number 56817-9-II (Slip op. August 22, 2023). A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A at pages A-1 through A-15.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should this Court accept review where Mr. West was deprived of his state and federal due process rights when the police failed to "collect" exculpatory or potentially exculpatory video evidence of an incident during which Mr. West is alleged to have hit three officers who were investigating an unrelated shooting?
- 2. Should this Court accept review where— if the video evidence was not materially exculpatory and was instead potentially useful— was the failure to obtain and preserve the video of the

incident done in bad faith, in violation of Mr. West's state and federal due process rights?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Eddie West, Jr. was convicted in Pierce County Superior Court of three counts of third-degree assault following a melee in which police responded to an unrelated shooting at Latitude 84, a club in Tacoma. 2RP at 286. When police arrived, the scene outside the club was chaotic as people left the building and went into the parking lot. 2RP at 284. A large crowd gathered outside the club near the entrance, while others were rapidly leaving in cars. 2RP at 284, 291. A shooting victim was outside the club near the front entrance, the glass doors were open and a window was shattered and there was broken glass on the ground. 2RP at 288. Many people in the crowd were yelling abuse such as "f@ck the police," and also yelling "Black Lives Matter," and "defund the police." 3RP at 581. Officer Larry Breskin saw an individual he identified as Mr. West being confrontational with Officer Trent Dow and telling Officer Dow that he was going to "beat his ass." 2RP at 293, 360. Officer Breskin walked over to assist Officer

Dow. 2RP at 293, 295. Officer Breskin stated that he and other officers told Mr. West that it was a shooting scene and to walk away and that he was free to go. 2RP at 297, 329. Officer Breskin stated that Mr. West continued to be confrontational and that he continued to make "vague threats" that he was "going to beat us up." 2RP at 297. Officer Breskin stated that Mr. West walked away a few steps and then stopped and that Officer Breskin then used an "escort hold" on Mr. West by grabbing one hand above his elbow and one hand on his wrist to the control the subject and forcibly walk him away. 2RP at 300-01. Officer Breskin said that as he was doing this, Mr. West hit Officer Cenicola, who was assisting Officer Breskin. 2RP at 285. He stated that Mr. West tried to hit him and that he took him to the ground and that Mr. West hit him on the jaw with a closed fist and hit his ear. 2RP at 285,304, 305.

Tacoma police officer Steven Miller responded to Latitude 84 with a K 9 unit in his vehicle in the event that it was necessary to track the shooter from Latitude 84. 2RP at 374. Officer Miller testified that members of the crowd in the parking lot and those

still coming out of the Latitude 84 were hostile and shouting things like "bitch ass cop, motherf\*\*king cops" and "all sorts of colorful metaphors to describe my profession and what we're supposed to be doing there." 2RP at 375. The shooting victim was receiving first aid and Officer Miller positioned himself between the crowd and the officers assisting the wounded man. 2RP at 377, 378. Officer Miller estimated that ten to fifteen Tacoma officers were on the scene. 2RP at 378,

Officer Miller "dispersed the crowd to a degree" and then saw Mr. West approaching in what he called "an aggressive manner as if he was trying to pick a fight." 2RP at 380. Officer Miller said that Mr. West said that he called him "a bitch ass cop, f\*ck your shield, f\*ck your badge." 2RP at 380. Officer Miller stated he used "de-escalation" techniques to move Mr. West out of the scene by saying "have a good night" and "enjoy your evening." 2RP at 382. Officer Miller stated that Mr. West moved toward Officer Dow and tried to pick a fight with him. 2RP at 382. Officer Miller said that he lost sight of Mr. West, and a few minutes later he saw Mr. West being taken out in an "escort hold"

by his wrist and elbow by Officer Cenicola to move Mr. West away from the shooting victim. 2RP at 383-84. Officer Miller stated that he saw Mr. West push Officer Cenicola then hit her in the center of her face with a closed fist. 2RP at 385. Officer Miller ran toward Mr. West and assisted the other officers in "taking Mr. West to the ground." 2RP at 387. While doing this Officer Miller stated that he was punched in the right side of his jaw and when he was on the ground Mr. West swung his arms and grabbed his vest dislodged two handgun magazines that were attached to his vest and was hit on the face when trying to secure Mr. West's hands. 2RP at 387-88. Officer Miller said that he attempted to hit Mr. West's face with a closed fist four times after Officer Miller was hit in the face. 2RP at 391. Officer Miller stated his fourth hit made a "good connection" and that Mr. West stopped flailing his arms. 2RP at 392, 401. Officer Miller was able to roll Mr. West over and put him in handcuffs. 2RP at 392. Officer Miller stated that after Mr. West was handcuffed and was being walked to a patrol car, he "attempted mule kicks against Officer Cenicola." 2RP at 396.

Officer Cenicola saw Mr. West moving toward Officer Dow and saying "I'm going to f\*ck you up, I'm going to hit you in the face" 2RP at 435. A man who identified himself as "security" pulled Mr. West away from the crime scene area. 2RP at 437. She testified that two to three minutes later Mr. West came back to the area in front of the building and was making threats toward Officer Dow. 2RP at 443-47. Mr. West stepped back and then approached the officers again and Officer Breskin and Officer Cenicola grabbed Mr. West to move him out of the crime scene. 2RP at 450. Officer Cenicola stated that Mr. West pulled his arms free from the escort hold and punched her in the face with a closed fist. 2RP at 450-53. Officer Breskin took Mr. West to the ground assisted by Officer Cenicola and Officer Miller. 2RP at 455.

Officer Cenicola hit him in the face and delivered "knee strikes" to the side of his body. 2RP at 455. She saw him hit the side of Officer Breskin's face with a closed fist and said that Mr. West was flailing his arms with closed fists. 2RP at 456. She said the after being handcuffed and put on his feet, he started to kick

backwards toward her while she searched him. 2RP at 458. Officer Cenicola said that she had severe bruising across the top of her nose and under her eyes and had a bruise on the side of her leg where she was kicked. 2RP at 462.

Eddie West moved from Georgia to Tacoma in 2019. 3RP at 501. After getting off work on October 23, 2020, he went out to get a beer but two local stores that normally sold beer were closed due to Covid restrictions. 3RP at 504. He decided to go to Latitude 84, a place where he had not previously been, to play pool. 3RP at 504, 505. The pool tables were full so Mr. West drank and watched people play pool. 3RP at 504, 506. Mr. West heard gunshots from outside the building and then saw people scattering and running from the bar. 3RP at 508. He had brought a set of headphones but was wearing them around his neck at the time. 3RP at 509. After hearing gunshots Mr. West stayed in place where he was sitting because he did not want to get hit by a bullet if he ran outside where other people were running. 3RP at 509. After a while he went outside the club and a police officer said he needed to move because he was in a crime scene. 3RP at 511-12.

He moved to the opposite side to go find out which way he needed to go and then put his headphones back on his ears. 3RP at 512-14. While on the sidewalk he realized he was going the wrong way and so he went back the other way and an officer said that he could not walk through there. 3RP at 514. Mr. West told the officer that he was not from Washington and did not know the area, but he was wearing a mask as required under covid protocol, and the officer said "what?" 3RP at 514. He walked toward the officer to explain what he was saying and the officer told him that he needed to get off the sidewalk. 3RP at 514. He said that another officer came up and said "you need to get your black ass off here. You're obstructing the crime scene" and "get your black ass—just keep moving." 3RP at 514-15, 523. Mr. West took off his headphone and he "I know I didn't hear what I just heard" and the officer said "you need to get your ass—this is a crime scene." You need to get your ass and keep moving." 3RP at 515. Mr. West said that he did not expect to hear that in Washington and that "people are just different from the south." 3RP at 515. Mr. West said that he told the officer "I'm trying to figure out which way

because this officer down here told me to go this way. I stay down this way. So which way do I need to go to get out of you guys' way?" 3RP at 516. Mr. West said that he reached into his pocket to turn off his music and the officer grabbed his wrist and pushed him and then he was on the ground. 3RP at 519. He said that he fell backward and blanked out and reached out to try to break his fall. 3RP at 519. He said that while on the ground the officers were punching and hitting him, and he was struggling and fighting for his life. 3RP at 519. He testified that he then wondered if he was going die in Washington. 3RP at 518, 548.

Mr. West denied that he hit Officer Cenicola or the other officers. 3RP at 545. He denied hitting the other officers, stating that he was falling backwards and reaching to avoid falling straight on his back or his head. 3RP at 545-46. He said that he blacked out after falling backward. 3RP at 546, 547. He stated that he did not remember hitting any of the officers but that he was fearful for his life and thought he could die when the officers were piled on him. 3RP at 548, 551-52.

The court heard a defense motion to dismiss the charges

due to failure by the State to preserve video evidence of the Officer Warner met with the Latitude 84 manager and incident. was shown the video camera system in the bar. 1RP at 13-14. Officer Warner reviewed video of a group of three individuals including one with a gun and saw video of the male outside the bar on foot and firing a gun back into a crowd that had gathered outside. IRP at 16. Officer Warner made arrangements to obtain a copy of the portion of the video showing the initial argument and suspect in the shooting from multiple camera angles. 1RP at 20. Officer Warner said that there was a separate incident not related to the shooting that occurred during the investigation of the shooting. IRP at 21. While viewing the videos from multiple cameras, Officer Warner also saw an "interaction involving officers" on video and "a pile" of officers "in the corner of the camera." 1RP at 18. A separate incident number for the alleged assault against the officers was created. 1RP at 21-22. Officer Warner stated that Latitude 84 had cameras oriented to where the alleged assault had taken place. 1RP at 23.

Officer Warner said that he went outside Latitude 84 and

saw officers holding Mr. West and asked if they needed assistance. 1RP at 41, 44, 50. Mr. West stated that the officers were breathing hard after exertion and were knelling on Mr. West, who was handcuffed and on the ground. 1RP at 56-57.

Officer Warner located the video of the argument between patrons inside Latitude 84 and the ensuing shooting, which was exported onto a thumb drive and later collected by a Tacoma police officer. 1RP at 39, 40, 64, 65. Officer Warner did not collect or preserve the video of the alteration involving Mr. West, which occurred several minutes after the video of the shooting. 1RP at 44.

At the hearing, Mr. West stated that the defense had been trying for some time to obtain video of the incident to show what had really happened at Latitude 84 on that date, but had been unsuccessful in their efforts. 1RP at 90.

Defense counsel argued that the police had collected approximately eight minutes of video and failed to get an additional two minutes of video that occurred shortly after police arrived, that would have included the case involving Mr. West.

1RP at 93-94. The officer knew that someone had allegedly assaulted officers and saw someone being arrested as he walked out of Latitude 84 but failed to secure the video. 1RP at 94

The trial court judge stated that he found the video potentially exculpatory, but not sufficiently potentially exculpatory based on *State v. Armstrong*. 1 IRP at 112, 140-43. The judge stated: "I also found that the issue really turned upon the finding of bad faith. And essentially based upon that Armstrong defines as bad faith, whether I agree with it or not, that that bad faith, based upon the Armstrong precedent, was not present." 1RP at 140.

On appeal, Division 2 affirmed the convictions and (1) the trial court did not err in denying West's motion to dismiss for governmental misconduct, (2) West did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel where counsel did not request a missing evidence jury instruction, and (3) the prosecutor's statement referring to defense counsel as an "illusionist" does not rise to the level of prosecutorial misconduct requiring reversal. *West*, slip

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 188 Wn.2d 333, 394 P.3d 373 (2017).

op., at \*1, \*14.

## E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The considerations that govern the decision to grant review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner believes that this court should accept review of this issue because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)).

1. RESPECTFULLY, THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW WHERE WEST WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHERE INVESTIGATING OFFICERS FAILED TO COLLECT AND PRESERVE MATERIAL EXCULPATORY VIDEO EVIDENCE.

The trial court abused its discretion when it denied Mr. West's motion to dismiss the charges due to failure to obtain and preserve surveillance video of Mr. West on the sidewalk after he came out of the bar, the custodial "escort hold" of Mr. West by the officers, the alleged assault of Officer Cenicola and the pile of officers on Mr. West after he was forced to the ground.

"To protect a defendant's due process rights, the State has a

duty to preserve and disclose exculpatory evidence." *State v. Koeller*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 245, 252, 477 P.3d 61 (2020) (citing *State v. Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d 467, 475, 880 P.2d 517 (1994)), review denied, 197 Wn.2d 1008, 484 P.3d 1263 (2021). To comport with due process, the prosecution has a duty to preserve material exculpatory evidence for use by the defense. *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 475 (citing *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963). This duty extends only to material exculpatory evidence and to "potentially useful" evidence destroyed by the State in bad faith. Id. (quoting *State v. Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d 333, 345, 394 P.3d 373 (2017)).

Here, the Court of Appeals interprets the petitioner's argument as requiring the police to "collect" or obtain evidence that may be use useful to the defendant at some point in the future. *West*, at \*8. The petitioner respectfully submits that the Court overlooks the main point of his argument, which is not that the police are expected to serve as "investigators" on behalf of the defense, but instead that the police were required to obtain the several minutes of video of the alleged assaults which was within the police's control

and which was logically related to the assault involving the officers, as well as being potentially related to the shooting incident as well. The petitioner does not argue that the police were expected to comb through hours of video to find the assault video; the portion of the video in question was literally at Officer Warner's fingertips. Under the unique facts of this case, the Court's conclusion that "where the State never had possession of the evidence, it follows that there is no duty to preserve the evidence" and that the surveillance footage was in the possession of a third party is misreading of the facts—the officer had control of the video and authority to obtain the video in question, which is what the police did with the video pertaining directly to the shooting. *West*, at \*9.

"Under the Fourteenth Amendment to the federal constitution, criminal prosecutions must conform with prevailing notions of fundamental fairness, and criminal defendants must have a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 344. see *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51, 57, 109 S. Ct. 333, 102 L. Ed. 2d 281 (1988); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. This duty is "limited to evidence that might be

expected to play a significant role in the suspect's defense." *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479, 488, 104 S. Ct. 2528, 81 L. Ed. 2d 413 (1984).

The first question under *Armstrong* is whether the evidence is "materially exculpatory" or only "potentially useful." "Materially exculpatory" evidence must "possess an exculpatory value that was apparent before it was destroyed." *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 345; see *California v. Trombetta*, supra. To meet this standard, "evidence must both possess an exculpatory value that was apparent before the evidence was destroyed and be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means." *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 489.

This duty, however, is not absolute. *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 475 (observing that the United States Supreme Court "has been unwilling to 'impos[e] on the police an undifferentiated and absolute duty to retain and to preserve all material that might be of conceivable evidentiary significance in a particular prosecution." (quoting *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51, 58, 109 S. Ct. 333, 102 L. Ed. 2d 281 (1988))). "'Potentially useful' evidence is

'evidentiary material of which no more can be said than that it could have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant.' "*State v. Groth*, 163 Wn. App. 548, 557, 261 P.3d 183 (2011) (quoting *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 57).

To establish that evidence constitutes material exculpatory evidence, "[a] showing that the evidence might have exonerated the defendant is not enough." *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 475. Rather, "the evidence must both possess an exculpatory value that was apparent before it was destroyed and be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means." *Id.* (citing *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 489).

The first prong of the *Trombetta* analysis---that the evidence possesses an apparent exculpatory value before it was destroyed---is satisfied here. The surveillance videotape evidence from the multiple Latitude 84 cameras had a material exculpatory value that was obvious from the inception of the incident. Officer Warner knew there was a fight involving multiple officers that had just occurred and knew an arrest had just taken place. Officer Warner testified that he heard the radio traffic regarding an altercation with someone in

front of Latitude 84 and that he heard the fracas, and that he saw a pile of officers on Mr. West and saw Mr. West was cuffed and the officers were breathing hard. Moreover, he lenew that the arrest took place in an exceptionally politically charged atmosphere. Bar patrons were highly agitated and yelling abuse at the police and also yelling "Black Lives Matter" and "defund the police." It was entirely foreseeable that an arrest in that environment involving multiple officers would necessitate an investigation of the circumstances and cause of the incident and arrest, and that the person being arrested may have a legitimate reason to be fearful of the police. Moreover, it was entirely foreseeable that Mr. West would have a defense based on his fearfulness of the police and his fear that he would be seriously injured or even killed when he was forced to the ground by multiple officers.

Therefore, the materiality and exculpatory nature of the video in support of a defense based on actual or imminent danger of serious injury from an excessive use of force was plainly evident. The video evidence had an obvious exculpatory value at the time Officer Warner viewed the other video evidence of the shooting and directed

that the video be exported onto a disk or thumb drive and collected. The video would have shown the confrontation between the police and Mr. West, his interaction with police during the time leading to the incident, which he was given contradictory directions as how to leave the area, and the resulting "take down."

The State cannot reasonably argue that it was necessary to get only the video pertaining to the shooting in order to make a quick identification of a suspect in the shooting. The police did not get the thumb drive of the shooting video until several days after the incident, and obtaining the portion of the video pertaining to Mr. West would not have delayed identification of a suspect in the shooting or otherwise slowed the investigation of that crime.

The ability of a defendant to establish a defense to the crime by its very nature has exculpatory value. See *United States v. Davenport*, 519 F.3d 940, 945 (9th Cir. 2008) ("Affirmative defenses are complete defenses that, once proven by the defendant, negate criminal liability for an offense, notwithstanding the government's ability otherwise to prove all elements of that offense beyond a reasonable doubt."). Here, where the evidentiary significance of the

video was overt and immediately recognizable, the government's duty is no longer undifferentiated and absolute, but specific and necessary.

As for the second *Trombetta* prong, Mr. West is unable to obtain evidence comparable to the video by any other means. *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 489. As discussed above, the video evidence would have provided corroboration of Mr. West's testimony that he was fearful of the police and that he was grabbed by an officer and fell straight backward. Thus, it indeed would have assisted Mr. West to support the affirmative defense of use of force to resist arrest by being in actual or imminent danger of serious injury due to an officer's use of excessive force. Instruction 9; CP at 94. The video evidence was irreplaceable; Tacoma police officers did not have body cams at the time and Mr. West "would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means." *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 345.

The trial court cited *Armstrong* as insurmountable barrier to a finding that the video was material exculpatory evidence. Conclusion of Law 9. CP at 106. *Armstrong*, however, is inapposite. In

Armstrong, the defense did not even attempt to establish the evidence in question had apparent exculpatory value; Armstrong asserted only that the video surveillance was "potentially useful evidence." 188 Wn.2d at 345. Courts may not rely on cases as controlling authority where those cases did not decide an issue. *In re Electric Lightwave*, Inc., 123 Wn.2d 530, 541, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994).

This case is also unlike *State v. Derri*, 17 Wn.App.2d 376, 486 P.3d 901 (2021). In *Derri*, police never tried to get surveillance video from a bank before the bank destroyed it, even though the police could have expected the bank to have surveillance video cameras that might be relevant to the case. *Derri*, 17 Wn.App.2d at 409-10. Here, Officer Warner viewed the video and had complete, unfettered access to all the video recorded that night but elected to obtain only a small portion of the available video.

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