FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/17/2023 9:49 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102406-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

EDDIE HERSHELL WEST, JR.,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREW YI Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 44793 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2914

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Due Process Does Not Require Law Enforcement to Search for Exculpatory Evidence, Only to Preserve Evidence Already in its Possession.

Reviewed is wholly unwarranted here where it is well established that due process requires law enforcement to only preserve potentially exculpatory evidence already in their possession. *E.g.*, *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d 333. Law enforcement does not have a duty to search out exculpatory evidence or expand the scope of their investigation. *State v. Judge*, 100 Wn.2d 706, 717-18, 675 P.2d 219 (1984). The Court of Appeals tightly adhered to these principles to reach the correct result. There is no statutory or constitutional basis for revisiting this long-settled point.

Washington's due process clause "affords the same protection regarding a criminal defendant's right to discover potentially exculpatory evidence as does its federal counterpart." Wittenbarger, 124 Wn.2d at 474. Under the Fourteenth Amendment, the accused must be afforded "a meaningful

opportunity to present a complete defense." *Id.* Accordingly, the State has a duty to disclose and preserve material exculpatory evidence in its possession. *Id.* at 475.

While the State is required to "preserve all potentially material and favorable evidence, this rule does not require police to search for exculpatory evidence." Armstrong, 188 Wn.2d at 345 (citing Judge, 100 Wn.2d at 717) (emphasis added). It follows that the State has no duty to *collect* exculpatory evidence. See Armstrong, 188 Wn.2d at 345; see also Judge, 100 Wn.2d at 717-18. "Investigating officers have no duty to investigate potentially exculpatory evidence at a crime site." Judge, 100 Wn.2d at 717-18. Due process does not "require police or other investigators to search for exculpatory evidence, conduct tests, or exhaustively pursue every angle on a case." Id. at 716 (citations omitted in original); see also Jones, 26 Wn. App. at 554. As stated by the United States Supreme Court, law enforcement does not have "an undifferentiated and absolute duty to retain and to preserve all material that might be of conceivable evidentiary significance in a particular prosecution." Wittenbarger, 124 Wn.2d at 475 (quoting Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58, 109 S. Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988)).

Applying these well-established principles here, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that "the State does not have a duty to collect evidence nor can it preserve evidence it never possessed." *West*, 2023 WL 5378052, at *4. As noted by the court, "where the State never had possession of the evidence, it follows that there is no duty to preserve the evidence. The surveillance footage was in the possession of a third party, and was never collected by the officers." *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

To overcome this consistent case law, West changes horses midstream. In the Court of Appeals below, he argued that law enforcement deprived West of his due process rights by failing to *preserve* the video. *See* Br. of Appellant at 23-35, *State* v. *West*, No. 54817-9-II (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 31, 2022); *see also*

West, 2023 WL 5378052, at *4 ("West attempts to frame his argument as a preservation issue.") In this petition, West now attempts to argue that video surveillance was in the "possession" of law enforcement because "the portion of the video in question was literally at Officer Warner's fingertips." Pet. at 14-15. West's contention is belied by the record. At the motion hearing, Officer Warner testified that it was the bar's practice to burn a CD with the requested footage and provide it to the police later. 1RP at 19-20; see also West, 2023 WL 5378052, at *2, n.5. Accordingly, where the bar never burned a CD containing the pertinent portions of the surveillance video and this nonexistent CD was never collected by the police, law enforcement never had possession of the surveillance video.

West's argument threatens to turn long standing case law on its head and create a new rule with potentially absurd consequences. If law enforcement were in "possession" of everything at their "fingertips," *all* physical and tangible evidence at a crime scene—regardless of whether it was actually

collected by the police or not—would be in the State's "possession." Such a rule would require law enforcement to collect virtually all physical evidence at a crime scene, because it is not difficult to speculate on some conceivable exculpatory value the evidence may have. But such a conclusion flies in the face of firmly established case law holding that the police do not have a duty to expand the scope of their investigation, nor do they have a duty to search out potentially exculpatory evidence at the scene of the crime. *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 345; *Judge*, 100 Wn.2d at 717-18.

Moreover, even if this Court were interested in exploring such a new rule, this case is a poor vehicle to do so. As Officer Warner testified, although the bar's surveillance cameras were pointed in the general direction of the incident, the cameras would not necessarily have captured all of West's incident with law enforcement because "the crowd" or "[o]fficers could have blocked it" and the pillars in the room made it "very frustrating" to capture everything. 1RP at 42. According to this unrefuted

have even captured the incident. And West's speculation that the video evidence *might* have exonerated him does not establish that the video footage would have done so. Accordingly, this case is a poor vehicle to revisit *Armstrong*'s rule that the police are not required to "search for exculpatory evidence" where it is entirely speculative whether the evidence would even have been of any use to West. *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 345 (citing *Judge*, 100 Wn.2d at 717).

In sum, the Court of Appeals properly dispensed with West's claim of governmental misconduct under long standing precedent. West does not present any arguments demonstrating that this rule should be revisited. This Court should decline review.

B. Even if the State Had a Duty to Collect Here, West Fails to Establish that the Evidence was Materially Exculpatory or that the Police Acted in Bad Faith

Review is further unwarranted here because even assuming the State had a duty to collect the surveillance

footage—and it did not—the trial correctly concluded that the video in question was not materially exculpatory and that the State did not act in bad faith. Due process requires dismissal of a case only if (1) the State does not preserve "material exculpatory evidence" or (2) the State does not preserve "potentially useful evidence," and the defendant establishes that the State acted in bad faith. Armstrong, 188 Wn.2d at 344. Applying this test, the trial court properly concluded that dismissal for governmental misconduct was unwarranted under long standing case law.

1. The trial court correctly ruled that West failed to establish that the video footage was materially exculpatory.

Even if the State had a duty to collect the evidence, West failed to establish that it was materially exculpatory. To meet this standard, "the evidence must both possess an exculpatory value that was apparent before it was destroyed and be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means." *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 345 (internal quotation omitted). In contrast, merely

"potentially useful" evidence is evidence that "could have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant." *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 57.

West's speculation that the surveillance footage might have supported his self-serving version of events falls far short of meeting the definition of "materially exculpatory" evidence. "A showing that the evidence *might* have exonerated the defendant is not enough." *E.g.*, *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 475 (emphasis added). Indeed, at most, West can only show that the surveillance footage might have supported his self-serving testimony at trial. Without explaining how or why, he makes the conclusory assertion that the "video evidence had an obvious exculpatory value." Pet. at 18. This amounts to nothing more than pure conjecture.

Rather, as the trial court astutely noted, the missing video evidence "could have been *inculpatory or exculpatory*," IRP at 110 (emphasis added), and it was at most "potentially exculpatory." IRP at 140. The court specifically stated that it

could not find that the evidence was "material" and "it's potential exculpatory nature" was not enough. *Id*. And to paraphrase the prosecutor, "even if [the video surveillance] is something that ... in hindsight, the officers and the State and defense and [the court] might have wished to have seen," *id* at 105, the simple fact is that nobody knows what the video would have shown.

West's contention that the video would have exonerated him or corroborated his self-serving trial testimony amounts to nothing more than speculation and a conclusory allegation devoid of any factual support. Moreover, Officer Warner expressly testified that he had no reason to believe that the missing video footage would contain any "exculpatory evidence" whatsoever. IRP at 23. Although the cameras were pointed in the general direction of where the incident took place, the cameras would not have even necessarily captured the incident because of the large number of people in the bar or the pillars in the camera's view could have obstructed the incident. *Id.* at 42. Thus, it cannot be the case that the evidence possessed "an exculpatory

value that was apparent before it was destroyed" and therefore was not "material exculpatory evidence." *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 345 (emphasis added); *see also State v. Koeller*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 245, 253, 477 P.3d 61 (2020).

The trial court's conclusion that West failed to establish that the evidence was materially exculpatory was supported by the record and based on firmly established case law. There is no basis for this Court's intervention here.

2. The trial court correctly ruled that even if the video had been potentially useful, West failed to meet his burden to show evidence of bad faith.

The trial court correctly denied the request for dismissal, because if the video was merely "potentially useful" to the defense, the defendant must face the burden of establishing that the State acted in bad faith. The presence of bad faith is irrelevant to the due process analysis when the State fails to disclose material exculpatory evidence. *See Brady*, 373 U.S. at 87. But "the Due Process Clause requires a different result" when addressing a failure "to preserve evidentiary material of which

no more can be said then that it could have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant." *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 57. When the evidence is "potentially useful," destruction of evidence "is not a denial of due process unless the suspect can show bad faith by the State." *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 345.

Evidence of bad faith "turns on the police's knowledge of the exculpatory value of the evidence at the time it was lost or destroyed." *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 345. Here, the police investigation indicated that they had no reason to believe that the video footage would contain any "exculpatory evidence." 1RP at 23. Indeed, the police were not even sure if the cameras would have even captured the event given the large crowd in the bar and the presence of pillars in the room partially obstructing the camera's view, which made it "very frustrating" to capture everything. *Id.* at 42.

To show bad faith, West "must 'put forward specific, nonconclusory factual allegations that establish improper

motive." Armstrong, 188 Wn.2d at 345 (quoting Cunningham v. City of Wenatchee, 345 F.3d 802, 812 (9th Cir.2003)). Negligent failure to preserve potentially useful evidence is insufficient to establish "bad faith." Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 58 (holding due process was not violated by failure to preserve potentially useful evidence including a semen sample and the victim's clothing, because the defendant did not show bad faith). West failed to show any indication of bad faith, such as "official animus towards [him] or ... a conscious effort to suppress ... evidence." California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 488, 104 S. Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984).

Indeed, the trial court specifically found that the police were merely "negligent" in failing to obtain the video and expressly stated that it could not make a finding of bad faith. 1RP at 111. And it is well-established that negligent failure to preserve potentially useful evidence is insufficient to establish "bad faith." *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58.

As in *Armstrong*, the trial court correctly ruled that West failed to meet his burden to "put forth specific, nonconclusory factual allegations that establish improper motive." *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 345; *see also Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 478. The trial court correctly applied long standing principles in reaching its conclusions. This Court should decline to revisit these well settled constitutional principles.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks the Court to deny West's petition for review.

This document contains 4,833 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.